A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Alan Smith was convicted following a bench trial of the 

premeditated murder of his wife. Over his objection, the trial court 

erroneously admitted his privileged confession to Wendell Morris, who 

was acting in his role as a member of the clergy. In addition, over his 

objection, the court admitted evidence of barefoot impression analysis 

without holding a hearing pursuant to Frye v. United States, and where 

barefoot impression analysis is not generally accepted in the scientific 

community. The court also refused to appoint new counsel following 

the verdict where Mr. Smith and his attorneys had an irreconcilable 

conflict. Mr. Smith asks this Court to reverse his conviction and 

remand for a new trial. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in finding Mr. Morris was not acting as a 

member of the clergy when he induced Mr. Smith’s confession. 

2. The trial court erred in finding Mr. Smith’s confession to Mr. 

Morris was not privileged. 

3. In the absence of substantial evidence, the court erred in 

entering Finding of Fact Denying Claim of Clergy Privilege 12, finding 

Mr. Morris was not an ordained minister. 
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4. To the extent it is considered a finding of fact, and in the 

absence of substantial evidence, the court erred in entering Conclusion 

of Law 1.  

5. The court erred in entering Court’s Finding of Fact 12 of the 

Certificate Pursuant to CrR 6.1, to the extent it relies upon the 

testimony of Mr. Morris regarding Mr. Smith’s confession. 

6. The trial court erred in admitting evidence of barefoot 

impression analysis which is not generally accepted in the scientific 

community. 

7. The trial court erred in refusing to hold a hearing pursuant to 

Frye v. United States1 regarding the admissibility of barefoot 

impression analysis. 

8. The court erred in entering Court’s Finding of Fact 5 of the 

Certificate Pursuant to CrR 6.1, to the extent it relies upon the barefoot 

impression analysis of Sgt. Shelly Massey as a means of determining 

Mr. Smith’s guilt. 

9. The court erred in finding that Sgt. Massey’s testimony 

regarding barefoot impression analysis was not a scientific process. 

1 Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C.Cir.1923), rejected in part on 
other grounds by State v. Buckner, 133 Wn.2d 63, 941 P.2d 667 (1997). 
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10. The trial court violated Mr. Smith’s Sixth Amendment and 

article I, section 22 rights to counsel when it refused to appoint new 

counsel prior to sentencing. 

11. The trial court erred in finding Mr. Smith and his court 

appointed attorneys did not have an irreconcilable conflict. 

12. The trial court failed to conduct an adequate inquiry into the 

asserted irreconcilable conflict between Mr. Smith and his attorneys. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Statements made in confidence to a member of the clergy that 

are privileged under the clergy-penitent privilege are not admissible. 

Mr. Smith made inculpatory statements to one Wendell Morris, an 

associate minister acting in his role as member of the clergy. Did the 

trial court violate Mr. Smith’s right to due process when it admitted Mr. 

Smith’s statements where the statements fell within the clergy-penitent 

privilege? 

2. Expert testimony regarding testing that is not accepted within 

the scientific community is not admissible at trial. The results from 

testing bloody footprints found near Mr. Smith’s wife’s body using the 

“Barefoot Morphology” testing method was admitted at trial despite the 

fact that this method of testing is not generally accepted within the 

 3 



scientific community and the trial court failed to conduct a Frye 

hearing. Was Mr. Smith’s right to due process and a fair trial violated 

by the admission of the results of the “Barefoot Morphology” testing?” 

3. A defendant has a constitutionally guaranteed right to counsel 

under the United States and Washington Constitutions at all stages of a 

proceeding including sentencing. Where a defendant and court 

appointed counsel have an irreconcilable conflict, the court must 

appoint new counsel. Here, the court failed to conduct an adequate 

hearing to determine if an irreconcilable conflict existed. Did the trial 

court deny Mr. Smith his constitutionally guaranteed right to counsel at 

sentencing? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Susan Smith failed to appear for work for two consecutive days 

without contacting her employer, causing concern among her 

supervisors. 1/15/2015RP 45-47. Because of this concern, Ms. Smith’s 

employer contacted the Bothell Police Department and asked that they 

conduct a welfare check for Ms. Smith at her residence. 1/15/2015RP 

48. On February 12, 2013, Ms. Smith’s body was discovered at the 

residence. 1/15/2015RP 64. Ms. Smith’s death was ruled a homicide. 

1/20/2015RP 155. 
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The police spoke to Alan Smith, Ms. Smith’s husband at his 

office at the Boeing Company at Paine Field. In this initial interview, 

the police discovered Mr. and Ms. Smith were in the process of 

divorcing. As the investigation progressed, it focused on Mr. Smith as 

the perpetrator. 

As the investigation continued into June 2013, Mr. Smith met 

and began dating a woman named Love Thai. Ms. Thai and Mr. Smith 

wanted to attend the City Church, specifically the campus in the 

Belltown neighborhood of Seattle. 1/28/2015RP 90-91. Ms. Thai had 

explained to members of the small church group at City Church about 

the allegations that had been made against Mr. Smith in the press 

concerning his wife and explained the difficulties these allegations had 

caused in their lives. 1/28/2015RP 90-91. Mr. Smith and Ms. Thai were 

told they could not attend services at the City Church campuses 

including the Belltown campus, or attend any of the small church 

groups under the circumstances. 1/28/2015RP 90-91. 

At a church sponsored dinner, Mr. Smith met Wendell Morris, 

who was a City Church Group Leader at the Belltown campus and a 
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licensed minister.2 1/28/2015RP 90-91. After this initial meeting, Ms. 

Thai and Mr. Morris’s wife began texting on a regular basis. 

1/28/2015RP 95. Ms. Thai expressed that she and Mr. Smith were upset 

by the Church’s refusal to allow them to attend services or meetings. 

1/28/2015RP 96-97. Mr. Morris and his wife decided to minister Mr. 

Smith and Ms. Thai and let them “hear the word of God.” 1/28/2015RP 

98-99. 

Mr. Morris, his wife, Ms. Thai and Mr. Smith agreed to meet at 

the Starbuck’s adjacent to South Lake Union in Seattle. 1/28/2015RP 

99. Mr. Morris and his wife were inside the Starbucks when Ms. Thai 

arrived and told them Mr. Smith was still in the car in the parking lot 

and was extremely distraught. 1/28/2015RP 102-03. Mr. Morris met 

Mr. Smith at his car. Mr. Morris spoke to Mr. Smith, who was still 

seated inside the car. 1/28/2015RP 104-05. Mr. Morris coaxed Mr. 

Smith out of the car and the two began walking along the lake. 

1/28/2015RP 112-13. Mr. Smith began talking about his children and 

became emotional. 1/28/2015RP 114. According to Mr. Morris, Mr. 

Smith then admitted that he had killed his wife. 1/28/2015RP 114. The 

2 City Groups were small officially church-sanctioned groups designed to 
discuss the topics raised in the Sunday services. 4/4/2014RP 129-30. In the City 
Church there were approximately 500 - 600 groups in the four Seattle area campuses. 
4/4/2014 RP 122, 154. 
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two then spent several minutes discussing the scripture. 1/28/2015RP 

116-17. The next day, Mr. Smith and Mr. Morris met again and Mr. 

Morris encouraged Mr. Smith to surrender. 1/28/2015RP 125. When 

Mr. Smith did not accept Mr. Morris’s invitation to surrender, Mr. 

Morris called the police and disclosed the confession. 1/28/2015RP 

132-33. 

In the search of Ms. Smith’s house after the discovery of her 

body, the police discovered bloody footprints in the kitchen and 

bathroom. 1/15/2015RP 80, 85; 1/23/2015RP 10. Photographs of these 

footprints were obtained. 1/23/2015RP 10. The police contacted 

Sergeant Shelly Massey of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police 

(RCMP) about engaging in a comparison of the footprints with known 

samples. 1/23/2015RP 10-11. At Sergeant Massey’s suggestion, the 

police took photographs and inked impressions of Mr. Smith’s feet, 

while walking and standing still. 1/23/2015RP 11, 14. The inked 

impressions involved Mr. Smith barefoot and wearing cotton socks. 

1/23/2015RP 15. All of these items were sent to Sergeant Massey. 

1/23/2015RP 19. 
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Sergeant Massey is a forensic identification specialist for the 

RCMP. 1/23/2015RP 23. Sergeant Massey also had a subspeciality in 

barefoot morphology, or the comparison of: 

impressions of the human foot, specifically the 
morphology or the shape of the impression left by the 
human foot whether it be barefoot impressions, a socked 
foot impression, or the impression on the inch [sic] sole 
of a shoe. 
 

1/23/2015RP 25. Regarding the bloody footprints found at the scene of 

Ms. Smith’s murder, Sergeant Massey using the forensic testing 

procedure in which she specialized, compared the photographs of the 

footprints with the impressions and photographs of Mr. Smith’s feet. 

1/23/2015RP 36-45, 51. Sergeant Massey was unable to exclude Mr. 

Smith as a potential source of three of the footprints. 1/23/2015RP 74-

76. Sergeant Massey’s conclusion was not that Mr. Smith made the 

footprints but that he could have. 1/23/2015RP 93. 

Mr. Smith was charged with first degree murder with an 

aggravating factor and sentence enhancement were charged as well: 

that Ms. Smith was a family or household member, and that Mr. Smith 

was armed with a deadly weapon. CP 1283. Mr. Smith waived his right 

to a jury trial and the matter was tried to the bench. CP 127; 
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1/12/2105RP 5-10. At the conclusion of the trial, the court found Mr. 

Smith guilty as charged. CP 1-6; 2/4/2015RP 17-18. 

Prior to sentencing, Mr. Smith moved for the appointment of 

new counsel based upon his despair over his attorneys’ handling of the 

trial. CP 87-92. Specifically, Mr. Smith alleged that defense counsel 

had rendered constitutionally deficient representation and an 

irreconcilable conflict had emerged between himself and counsel. Id. 

Out of an abundance of caution, the trial court transferred the hearing 

on Mr. Smith’s motion to another judge. 2/20/2015RP 4-5. 

Presiding Judge Michael Downes presided over the hearing 

regarding Mr. Smith’s motion for the appointment of new counsel. Mr. 

Smith told the court that his motion was the result of a long standing 

conflict over trial tactics and a general lack of communication between 

defense counsel and himself. 2/25/2015RP 5-6. In addition, Mr. Smith 

alleged counsel failed to adequately cross-examine witnesses and failed 

to present favorable witnesses to his defense. 2/20/2015RP 8-16, 19. 

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Downs denied Mr. 

Smith’s motion, finding that decisions about trial tactics was the sole 

province of defense counsel and Mr. Smith’s complaints did not rise to 

the level of ineffective assistance of counsel. 
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E. ARGUMENT 

1. Wendell Morris was acting in his capacity as a 
member of the clergy when Mr. Smith confessed 
to him in confidence, thus the confession was 
privileged. 

 
a. The admission of irrelevant evidence violates the due 

process right to a fair trial. 
 

Erroneous evidentiary rulings violate due process by depriving 

the defendant of a fundamentally fair trial. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; 

Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 

(1991); Pulley v. Harris, 465 U.S. 37, 41, 104 S.Ct. 871, 79 L.Ed.2d 29 

(1984). Generally, the mere failure to comply with state evidentiary 

rules does not violate due process. Jammal v. Van de Kamp, 926 F.2d 

918, 919-20 (9th Cir. 1991). But, mere compliance with state 

evidentiary and procedural rules does not guarantee compliance with 

the requirements of due process. Id., citing Perry v. Rushen, 713 F.2d 

1447, 1453 (9th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 838 (1984). Due 

process is violated where the admission of evidence was arbitrary or so 

prejudicial that it rendered the trial fundamentally unfair. Walters v. 

Maass, 45 F.3d 1355, 1357 (9th Cir. 1995); Colley v. Sumner, 784 F.2d 

984, 990 (9th Cir. 1986). 
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b. Confessions made to a member of the clergy are 
privileged. 

 
The present day clergy-penitent privilege has its origin in the 

early Christian Church sacramental confession, which existed before 

the Reformation in England. It has evolved over the years into the 

contemporary “minister’s” privilege adopted in some form in virtually 

every state. Yellin, The History and Current Status of The Clergy–

Penitent Privilege 23 Santa Clara L.Rev. 95 (1983). Justification for the 

privilege is grounded on societal interests in encouraging penitential 

communication and the development of religious institutions by 

securing the privacy of the penitential communication. Id., at 113-14. 

Counterbalanced against these interests is the fundamental principle 

that “the public ... has a right to every man’s evidence” requiring strict 

construction of testimonial exclusionary rules and privileges. Trammel 

v. United States 445 U.S. 40, 50, 100 S.Ct. 906, 63 L.Ed.2d 186 (1980). 

The privileges between priest and penitent, attorney and 
client, and physician and patient limit protection to 
private communications. These privileges are rooted in 
the imperative need for confidence and trust. The priest-
penitent privilege recognizes the human need to disclose 
to a spiritual counselor, in total and absolute confidence, 
what are believed to be flawed acts or thoughts and to 
receive priestly consolation and guidance in return.  
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Trammel, 445 U.S. at 51. But, the clergy-penitent privilege must not be 

so strictly construed as to violate the right to the free exercise of 

religion guaranteed by the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution. State v. MacKinnon, 288 Mont. 329, 337, 957 P.2d 23, 28 

(1998). 

The clergy-penitent privilege is a creature of statute having no 

apparent origin in the common law. State v. Buss, 76 Wn.App. 780, 

784, 887 P.2d 920 (1995), overruled on other grounds by State v. 

Martin, 137 Wn.2d 774, 788, 975 P.2d 1020 (1999). In Washington, 

the clergy-penitent privilege is codified in RCW 5.60.060(3): 

A member of the clergy, a Christian Science practitioner 
listed in the Christian Science Journal, or a priest shall 
not, without the consent of a person making the 
confession or sacred confidence, be examined as to any 
confession or sacred confidence made to him or her in 
his or her professional character, in the course of 
discipline enjoined by the church to which he or she 
belongs. 
 
For the privilege to apply, communications between the penitent 

and clergy must be: (1) made to an ordained member of the clergy; (2) 

involve a confession “in the course of discipline enjoined by the 

church;” and (3) must be confidential. Martin, 137 Wn.2d at 791; State 

v. Glenn, 115 Wn.App. 540, 547, 62 P.3d 921, review denied, 149 

Wn.2d 1007 (2003). The privilege is held by the penitent, not the 
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clergy member. “Jane Doe” v. Corp. of President of Church of Jesus 

Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 122 Wn.App. 556, 563, 90 P.3d 1147 

(2004) review denied, 153 Wn.2d 1025 (2005). 

c. Mr. Morris was acting as a member of the clergy at the 
time Mr. Smith confessed. 

 
RCW 5.60.060(3) does not define the term “clergy.” In State v. 

Motherwell, 114 Wn.2d 353, 359-60, 788 P.2d 1066 (1990), the Court 

adopted the definition of clergy stated in RCW 26.44.020(6), which 

states: 

“Clergy” means any regularly licensed or ordained 
minister, priest, or rabbi of any church or religious 
denomination, whether acting in an individual capacity 
or as an employee or agent of any public or private 
organization or institution. 
 

(emphasis added). “Status as a member of the clergy is conferred by 

license or ordination within one’s church or religious denomination.” 

Motherwell, 114 Wn.2d at 360. 

Applying the Motherwell definition to Mr. Morris leads to the 

inescapable conclusion that he was a member of the clergy. Mr. 

Morris was associate minister at Eastside Baptist Church, which is the 

same as a licensed minister. 4/4/2014RP 107, 115, 175. Mr. Morris 

was granted a temporary license while at Eastside, which became 

permanent so long as Mr. Morris had no problems. 4/4/2014RP 116. 
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Mr. Morris admitted in his application to City Church that he was a 

licensed minister and he told the police when interviewed that he was 

a licensed minister. 4/9/2014RP 36, 60. 

The trial court focused on the fact Mr. Morris was not a pastor 

at City Church in finding the clergy-penitent privilege did apply to Mr. 

Smith’s confession. CP 866. But that is not the standard for 

determining whether one is a member of the “clergy” for the purposes 

of RCW 5.60.060(3). Rather, one merely must be a “licensed 

minister.” RCW 5.60.060(3). Mr. Morris repeatedly referred to 

himself as a licensed minister. In addition, he was issued a temporary 

license when at Eastside Baptist Church which automatically became 

permanent. The trial court in its written findings agreed that Mr. 

Morris was an associate minister who had received his permanent 

license. CP 864 (Finding of Fact 12). 

It is abundantly clear that Mr. Morris was an associate minister, 

which under the statute is a member of the clergy when Mr. Smith 

made his confession. The fact he was not a “pastor” is no moment 

under the statute. 
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d. Mr. Smith’s confession to Mr. Morris was given in the 
course of discipline enjoined by the City Church practice 
or rules in providing spiritual guidance and receive 
confessions. 

 
The term “in the course of discipline enjoined by the church to 

which he or she belongs” used in RCW 5.60.060(3), requires that the 

“clergy member ... be enjoined by the practices or rules of the clergy 

member’s religion to receive the confidential communication and to 

provide spiritual counsel.” State v. Martin, 91 Wn.App. 621, 629, 959 

P.2d 152 (1998), aff’d, 137 Wn.2d 774, 975 P.2d 1020 (1999). 

Although the clergy member privilege as originally drafted in 1870, 

may be dated in form, under a proper interpretation, “discipline 

enjoined” refers to the duties of the clergy member and to the rules of 

the clergy member’s faith. Id. “The clergy member must be constrained 

by his or her religious dictates to receive penitential communications 

and to provide spiritual instruction and guidance in return.” Id. The fact 

that the penitent did not formally belong to the clergy member’s church 

does not negate the privilege. Martin, 91 Wn.App. at 632.3 

3 “[C]ourts have recognized the privilege although the communicant was not 
a member of the clergy member’s church or faith. See e.g., Nicholson v. Wittig, 832 
S.W.2d 681 (Tex.Ct.App.1992) (clergy privilege applied to statements made to 
hospital chaplain); Commonwealth v. Shallenberger, 38 Pa. D. & C.3d 201 
(Pa.Com.Pl.1985) (defendant’s confidential conversations with two clergy members 
protected despite fact that one clergy member was not defendant’s pastor). As one 
court stated, the “clergy [member]’s door should always be open; [the clergy 
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“Determination of the definition of ‘confession’ . . . is to be 

made by the church of the clergy member.” Martin, 137 Wn.2d at 787. 

In Martin, the Court of Appeals found a communication was a 

“confession” because the clergy member receiving the communication 

considered it to be a confession. Glenn, 115 Wn.App. at 548, citing 

Martin, 91 Wn.App. at 628. 

It is clear that Mr. Smith’s admission that he killed his wife was 

an admission of guilt. The issue was whether Mr. Morris was allowed 

to provide spiritual guidance and receive confidential communications 

such as this admission. 

City Church had no rule or practice regarding confession. The 

church believed that confession is between the person and God: 

A: We would believe that confession -- confession -- let me 
start it this way. When you believe in Jesus and you have 
professed that Jesus is Lord of your life, he is the one and 
only one, only God can forgive sins. So part of the 
confessing that he’s the one who is in charge of your life 
is saying, “God, I’m a sinner, you’re my Savior, forgive 
me, save me, change me.” The Bible says, “If you 
confess your sins, he’s faithful and just to forgive your 
sins and cleanse you from all unrighteousness.” That 
means that it’s only God who can save you and forgive 

member] should hear all who come regardless of their church affiliation.” In re 
Swenson, 183 Minn. 602, 237 N.W. 589, 590 (1931).” 

Martin, 91 Wn.App. at 632 fn. 7.

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