FILED
Mar 04, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73219-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

٧.

ALAN JUSTIN SMITH,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

The defendant argues that his statement to Mr. Morris was made in the course of a discipline enjoined by the church because Mr. Morris was a City Group leader. Since the structure of City Church addressed a majority of church member's issues in those groups, and Mr. Morris met with the defendant with the intent to have him confess his sins in order to give meaning to the defendant's claimed conversion, he argues that the confession was part of Mr. Morris' duties as a minister of the church.

The court should reject this argument because Mr. Morris's intent when he agreed to meet with the defendant is irrelevant. "Confession" as it is used in the statute has been interpreted to mean the definition given by the religion of the clergy person. Martin, 137 Wn.2d at 789. Thus, City Church doctrine determines whether the confession was made in the context for which the

statute allows privileged communications. Since confession in that church does not contemplate a pastoral intermediary, and communications to pastors are not necessarily confidential, the defendant's admission to Mr. Morris was not made in the context which is protected by the statute.

This argument should also be rejected because City Groups are just that, groups of people that get together with a common interest. Any statements made in the group would not be confidential. The church treats communications in City Group as distinct from communications made in the pastoral counseling context. 4/4/14 RP 172-173.

Nor was the process for pastoral counseling within the structure of City Church employed when the defendant made his admissions to Mr. Morris. In order to be afforded pastoral counseling in City Church, a person was required to go through certain steps. The first step was to meet in a City Group. There, the group leader could assess whether individual pastoral counseling was necessary. 4/4/14 RP 165-166. Here defendant and Mr. Morris were not meeting in the context of a City Group. Mr. Morris was not acting on behalf of the church at the time that he met with the defendant. 4/4/14 RP 193-194.

c. The Defendant's Confession Was Not Confidential.

Lastly, in order for the privilege to apply the communication must be confidential. The defendant does not challenge the court's finding that the defendant told Mr. Morris: "I respect what you do with this information" after the defendant admitted killing his wife. Nor does the defendant challenge the court's finding that Mr. Morris took the comment to mean that Mr. Morris was given permission to go to the authorities with the information about the murder. 2 CP 863 (findings 6 and 7). These findings are therefore verities on appeal. These findings support the court's conclusion that that this statement constituted a waiver of any confidentiality. 2 CP 868 (conclusion 6).

The defendant argues that the communication was confidential because before the defendant admitted killing his wife, Mr. Morris told him "this stays between you and I." 4/4/14 RP 203. Mr. Morris's testimony relates to a period of time before the defendant told Mr. Morris that he respected what Mr. Morris did with the defendant's admissions. The defendant's statement that he respected what Mr. Morris did with the information was an offer to keep or not keep his confession confidential according to how Mr. Morris saw fit. It became clear in the following days that Mr. Morris

expected the defendant's confession to be revealed to the police, as Mr. Morris repeatedly urged the defendant to turn himself into the authorities. The defendant, however, never retracted his statement concerning what Mr. Morris could do with his confession. In this context the defendant had waived any expectation of confidentiality. Given Mr. Morris' urging that he go to the police, the defendant could reasonably expect Mr. Morris to go to the police if the defendant did not do so himself.

The defendant failed to establish any of the facts necessary to finding the statutory clergy-penitent privilege applied to his confession to Mr. Morris. The court properly found those statements were not privileged communications that barred their admission at trial.

B. NO FRYE HEARING WAS NECESSARY WHEN BAREFOOT MORPHOLOGY EVIDENCE DID NOT INVOLVE A NOVEL SCIENTIFIC THEORY OR PRINCIPAL.

The defendant argues the court erred when it denied his motion for a <u>Frye</u> hearing before admitting Sgt. Massey's footprint comparison testimony. Where novel scientific evidence is at issue the court should hold <u>Frye</u>² hearing to determine whether it has gained sufficient acceptance to warrant admission into evidence.

² Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013, 34 A.L.R. 145 (D.C. Cir 1923).

State v. Copeland, 130 Wn.2d 244, 259, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996). Under the Frye test evidence is admissible if it is based on a theory or principal which is generally accepted in the relevant scientific community. State v. Pigott, 181 Wn. App. 247, 249, 325 P.3d 247 (2014). The inquiry involves two steps: (1) was the scientific theory on which the evidence based generally accepted in the scientific community, and (2) was the technique used to implement that theory also generally accepted in the scientific community. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 585, 888 P.2d 1105, cert denied, 516 U.S. 843 (1995).

A <u>Frye</u> hearing is not necessary where a scientific method is already generally accepted in the relevant scientific community. <u>Pigott</u>, 181 Wn. App. at 249. Nor is it necessary when the testimony involves a physical comparison rather than a scientific test. <u>State v. Brewczynski</u>, 173 Wn. App. 541, 556, 294 P.3d 825, <u>review denied</u>, 177 Wn.2d 1026 (2013).

In Brewczynski the court admitted evidence comparing an impression of the defendant's footprint to a bloody footprint found near a murder victim. The court noted that the defendant could not challenge the general acceptance of footwear impression evidence in the forensic science community because that kind of evidence

has been accepted by courts for over one hundred years. Brewczynski, 173 Wn. App. at 555. It rejected the defendant's argument that the technique used by the examiner to compare the impression was not generally accepted in the community of footwear experts on the basis that the method was not a scientific test, but rather a comparison of physical evidence. Id. at 556.

Other courts have held that no <u>Frye</u> hearing was necessary before admitting footprint comparison testimony into evidence. In one case the court admitted testimony from a forensic expert comparing a pair of tennis shoes to bloody footprints found on linoleum at a murder scene. <u>State v. Hasan</u>, 534 A.2d 877, 880-881 (Conn. 1987). The court held no <u>Frye</u> hearing was necessary because the testimony involved the comparison of two items. The court reasoned that the examiner's "conclusions relied on no advanced technology, nor did he employ scientifically sophisticated methods, the understanding of which lies beyond the intellectual powers of the ordinary layperson." Id. at 881.

In another case an FBI agent with a background in forensic footprint morphology compared shoeprints at a robbery scene to a pair of shoes. He also compared the imprints on the insoles of a pair of shoes to the defendant's feet. The witness testified that the

shoes made the shoeprints, and either the defendant or someone with his same foot morphology wore those shoes. Thiel v. State, 762 P.2d 478, 484-485 (Alaska 1988). The court found the testimony was admissible without a Frye hearing because the underlying technique of comparison was not novel or an unaccepted scientific procedure. The court commented that the result may have been different had the witness opined that no one other than the defendant could have worn those shoes. That opinion would have assumed foot morphology is unique to an individual, which was arguably a scientific theory that had not been generally accepted. Id. at 485.

The evidence at issue here is no different from the evidence at issue in the preceding cases. Sgt. Massey's testimony involved a comparison of unknown footprints to known footprints. She explained how she made that comparison and the basis for her conclusion that the defendant could have made those prints. As in Thiel, Sgt. Massey did not testify that her examination established conclusively that the defendant made the footprints found at the crime scene. Because her testimony was not based on any novel scientific principal or method a Frye hearing was not a necessary prerequisite to admission.

The defendant argues that the court should have held a Frye hearing because Sgt. Massey was employing scientific, technical, or specialized knowledge. BOA at 27. Whether she did so does not dictate whether a Frye hearing was necessary. DNA analysis does involve scientific and specialized knowledge. However, no Frye hearing is necessary before it is admissible because it does not involve novel scientific evidence. State v. Bander, 150 Wn. App. 690, 712, 208 P.3d 1242 (2009), review denied, 167 Wn.2d 1009 (2009). Similarly, the evidence here is not novel. Sgt. Massey used the ACE-V method to compare the characteristics from the unknown impressions to the known impressions. 3 CP 1205; 1/23/15 RP 32-34. In the context of fingerprint impression comparison this court has said that methodology is generally accepted for forensic comparisons. Pigott, 181 Wn. App. at 250.

The defendant also argues that barefoot morphology has not gained general acceptance in the scientific community. He asserts that Sgt. Massey's testimony should have been excluded for that reason. To support his position he cites three out-of-state cases: State v. Jones, 541 S.E.2d 813 (S.C. 2001) (Jones I), State v. Jones, 681 S.E.2d 580 (S.C. 2009), (Jones II); and State v. Berry, 547 S.E.2d 145 (N.C. 2001). These cases do not provide

persuasive authority for the proposition that the challenged testimony here should have been excluded. Each case involved expert opinions that differed from the expert opinion at issue here, as well as different standards for admission of that evidence.

In <u>Jones</u> I and <u>Jones</u> II the court considered the testimony from a South Carolina Law Enforcement Division³ agent who compared the barefoot impressions left on the insoles of a pair of boots that were associated with a bloody footprint at the scene of a murder. Those imprints were compared to the insoles of boots known to be worn by the defendant. The agent was permitted to testify that the impressions from each boot were "consistent" with each other. <u>Jones</u>, 541 S.E.2d at 818. South Carolina does not employ the <u>Frye</u> standard for admissibility. <u>Jones</u>, 681 S.E.2d at 590. Rather evidence is admissible under SCRE 702⁴ if (1) the evidence will assist the trier of fact (2) the expert witness is qualified, and (3) the underlying science is reliable. <u>Jones</u>, 541

 $^{^{3}}$ SLED is a statewide investigative law enforcement agency in South Carolina.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/South_Carolina_Law_Enforcement_Division

4 "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise."

S.E.2d at 818⁵. In <u>Jones</u> I the court held that the evidence was not reliable because the expert who studied barefoot morphology, and who consulted with the SLED agent who conducted the analysis, stated that at the time of trial he was still collecting data in order to determine which standards were appropriate for comparison purposes. In addition there was no quality control procedures used to ensure reliability. <u>Jones</u> 541 S.E.2d at 819. In <u>Jones</u> II, the court again rejected the agent's testimony in part because the consensus among experienced examiners was that identification of a suspect as the wearer of a shoe was "rare." <u>Jones</u>, 681 S.E.2d at 591.

Like South Carolina, North Carolina does not employ the Frye standard to determine whether scientific or specialized evidence is admissible. State v. Goode, 461 S.E. 631, 640 (N.C. 1995). In Berry an expert testified that shoes found at the scene of a murder were compared to shoes known to be worn by the defendant and inked impressions and photographs of the defendant's feet. The expert was permitted to testify that the shoes at the scene and the defendant's shoes were likely worn by the

⁵ A court determines the evidence is reliable taking into consideration (1) the publications and peer reviews of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific procedures. <u>Jones</u>, 541 S.E.2d at 819.

same person. <u>Berry</u>, 546 S.E.2d at 149, 154. Because the expert admitted that barefoot impressions were not a positive means to identify someone based on his current research, the court concluded his testimony was not sufficiently reliable at the time of trial. <u>Id</u>. at 156.

The testimony presented at trial here differed from the testimony in <u>Jones II</u>, and <u>Berry.</u> Sgt. Massey's opinion did not conclusively identify the person who made the footprints at the crime scene. Rather her testimony was limited to the conclusion that she was unable to exclude the defendant as source of those prints, and therefore that he could have made the particular impression in question. 1/23/15 RP 53.

This testimony is consistent with what the court found permissible in State v. Kunze, 97 Wn. App. 832, 988 P.2d 977 (1999), review denied, 140 Wn.2d 1022 (2000). There the court considered the admissibility of ear-print identification evidence. Two experts testifying on behalf of the State offered evidence that Kunze was "a likely source for the ear print and cheek print that were lifted" from the scene of the murder. Id. at 836-387. The court ruled that testimony was inadmissible because the majority of experts who testified indicated that latent ear print identification was

not generally accepted in the scientific community, Id. at 855. However the court also stated that on retrial, the forensic experts could testify to visible similarities and differences between the latent prints and exemplars, and testimony that based on a comparison between the two that the defendant could not be excluded as the maker of the latent print. "An opinion of non-exclusion (e.g., that a particular person cannot be excluded as the maker of a latent print) can rationally be based on readily discernable class characteristics, but an opinion of inclusion (e.g., that particular person made or probably made a latent print) cannot be." Id at 856.

This is precisely the type of evidence introduced by the State. Sgt. Massey did not opine that the defendant was the person nor that he was likely the person who left the footprint impressions at the scene of the crime. She only testified that the impressions agreed with a class of characteristics that could have been made by either the defendant's right or left foot. 1/23/15 RP 80-81.

Sgt. Massey's testimony involved a comparison of unknown to known impressions. Her opinion was confined to the class characteristics of those impressions. And she used a methodology that has been generally accepted in the forensic scientific

community. Therefore the court did not err when it denied the defendant's motion for a <u>Frye</u> hearing and admitted Sgt. Massey's testimony.

Finally, the defendant argues that the error in admission of Sgt. Massey's testimony was not harmless. If her testimony was subject to a <u>Frye</u> hearing, and it should have been excluded, then the defendant bears the burden to show that within reasonable probabilities that but for that error the outcome of his trial would be different. <u>State v. Sipin</u>, 130 Wn. App. 403, 421, 123 P.3d 862 (2005).

Here the footprint evidence was one of several pieces of circumstantial evidence that placed the defendant at the scene of the murder. 1 CP 2-4. The court found that none of the circumstantial evidence, alone or in conjunction with one another, was sufficient to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the murder. 1 CP 4. The evidence was sufficient to convict the defendant of murder only when it was considered in conjunction with the defendant's confession to Mr. Morris. 1 CP 4-5. Because the footprint evidence alone did not convince the court that the defendant was guilty, he has not shown that its admission, if error, was not harmless.

C. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUBSTITUTE COUNSEL..

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